#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JOSEPH SMITH,

Appellant,

vs. : Case No. SC06-0747

STATE OF FLORIDA, :

Appellee.

:

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT IN AND FOR SARASOTA COUNTY STATE OF FLORIDA

# AMENDED INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JAMES MARION MOORMAN
PUBLIC DEFENDER
TENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

DEBORAH K. BRUECKHEIMER Assistant Public Defender FLORIDA BAR NUMBER 0278734

Public Defender's Office Polk County Courthouse P. O. Box 9000--Drawer PD Bartow, FL 33831 (863) 534-4200

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

## TOPICAL

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Joseph Smith, Appellant, was charged by Indictment on 2-20-04, with the first-degree murder of Carlie Brucia on 2-1 or 2-04, in violation of § 782.04(1)(a), Fla. Stat. 2003). (V1/R137,138) State also filed an information on 2-20-04, which it subsequently amended charging Mr. Smith with 2 counts: (1) Capital Sexual Battery by a person over 18 on someone younger than 12, Carlie Brucia, by penetration or union with Ms. Brucia's vagina and Mr. Smith's penis and/or Ms. Brucia's vagina with Mr. Smith's finger and/or union with Ms. Brucia's mouth and Mr. Smith's penis on 2-1 or 2-04, in violation of § 794.011(2), Fla.Stat. (2003); and (2) Kidnapping with Commission of a Felony on a Child on 2-1 or 2-04, by abducting Carlie Brucia and committing a sexual battery on Carlie Brucia who was under 12 years old and/or by inflicting bodily harm on Carlie Brucia and/or committing a felony on a child in violation of §§§ 787.01(1)(a)2, 787.01(3)(a), 787.01(1)(a)3, Fla. Stat. (2003). (V1/R133-136;V4/R788-791) All charges were consolidated for the trial. (V6/R1033-1037)

Mr. Smith had a jury trial in Oct. and Nov. 2005. (Vols.22-46) Mr. Smith was found guilty as charged on all counts on 11-17-05. (V46/T5073-5075;V9/R1708,1709) The penalty phase was held, and on 12-1-05 the jury recommended death 10-2. (Vols. 47-52;V52/T5970-5974;V11/R2084) A Spencer hearing was held (Vols. 52-53), and the sentencing hearing took place on 3-15-06. (V53/T6227-6280) The sentencing order was filed on 3-17-06. The trial court sentenced Mr. Smith to death on the murder conviction and life on

the kidnapping and capital sexual battery charges. (V14/R2663-2671) The notice of appeal was filed on 4-12-06. (V14/R2691)

#### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Carlie Brucia, 11 years old, spent the night at a friend's house on 1-31-04; and at about 6:15 p.m. on 2-1-04, Carlie said she was going to walk home. Carlie was wearing a short-sleeve red shirt, blue jeans, and a pink backpack. Although Carlie said it was okay for her to walk home alone, her friend's mother called Carlie's home to let them know she her was on (V35/T3305,3367-3388;V44/T4764) Carlie's stepfather drove out to meet Carlie, but cold not locate her. They called 911 at 7:30 p.m. (V35/T3312-3319)

A bloodhound was used to track Carlie's scent, and she lost the scent at Evie's Car Wash. (V35/T3393-3412) The owner of Evie's Car Wash spoke to the police and told them he would check his motion cameras. When he did, he saw on Camera 3 at 6:27 p.m. for 2-1-04 a young lady being led out to the back side with a man taking her hand. Later he was asked to check his cameras for a yellow station wagon for that same time period. He saw a yellow station wagon on 2-1-04 on Camera 2 at 6:18 p.m., on Camera 8 at 6:19 p.m., and on Camera 5 at 6:15 p.m. The car wash was closed at noon on 2-1-04. (V35/T3423-3426,3440-3463)

A tape of the girl being led away at the car wash was shown to Carlie's mother and stepfather, and they identified Carlie as the girl. They did not know who the man was. Because there were no other leads, the tape was released to the media the night of 2-2-04. (V37/T3580-3587;V35/T3324-3327) There were 771 tips based on

the tape, and 60 referenced Joseph Smith. (V45/T4833-4840) One of these calls was from Ed and Lynn Dinyes. Ed was a friend of Mr. Smith's and a business associate. (V36/T3524-3548) Others also identified Mr. Smith as the man on the tape: someone who used to work with Mr. Smith (V36/T3551-3356), Mr. Smith's brother and his girlfriend (V38-T3793;V39/T3913-3917), and one of the persons Mr. Smith was living with at the time (V37/3653). The tape was played for the jury. (V36/T3490-3492)

As a result of these leads, the Sarasota Sheriff's Office sent detectives on 2-3-04, to check into Mr. Smith along with a list of other possible leads. Mr. Smith spoke to one detective while other detectives searched his living quarters and car with his consent for any evidence of Carlie. Mr. Smith denied being the man on the tape when he was shown a photo from it, and no evidence of Carlie was found. Mr. Smith said he had left his residence at about 6 p.m. in his car and went to see his brother John til about 6:30 p.m. on 2-1-04. He then returned to where he was staying with the Pincuses til 7:30 p.m. This covered the time of 6:22 p.m. that concerned the detective. The man on the tape had tattoos, so the detective asked Mr. Smith to roll up his sleeves—Mr. Smith did have tattoos on his arms. Since Mr. Smith had an alibi that could be checked, there was no evidence of Carlie, and there were others to check, the detectives moved on. (V37/T3570-3577,3590-3608)

Mr. Smith was staying with Jeffrey and Naomi Pincus on 2-1-04. Mr. Smith was having marital problems and was renting a room from his friends to be near his family. The Pincuses owned a yellow station wagon which Mr. Smith borrowed on 2-1-04 at about

3:05 p.m. Although Mr. Smith said he would be back in 15 minutes, Mr. Pincus did not see Mr. Smith again that night. Mr. Smith was wearing his mechanics' uniform when he left. When he saw Mr. Smith the next morning, Mr. Smith asked to borrow the station wagon again to visit his wife, children, brother, and mother. Mr. Smith said he had to sort things out with them. Mr. Pincus let Mr. Smith borrow the station wagon 2-2-04 and it was returned that night. Mr. Pincus saw the tape on 2-3-04 and recognized Mr. Smith. Mr. Pincus took his yellow station wagon to the Sheriff's Department and gave it to them. He noted the second-row seat was down when Mr. Smith returned it, but it was up when he gave it to Mr. Smith. Also, there were ties and cords in the station wagon when he loaned it to Mr. Smith. Mr. Pincus identified the yellow station wagon at the car wash on 2-1-04 as his. (V37/T3637-3657)

Mr. Smith had worked on Alibizu Moctezuma's car. Mr. Moctezuma saw Mr. Smith on 2-1-04, at 3:15 p.m.. Mr. Smith was picking grapefruit from their yard and was going to fix their fence. Mr. Moctezuma left; and when he returned at 8:15 p.m., Mr. Smith was at his house again. They talked about his car for 35-45 minutes, and Mr. Smith acted normal. A light-colored station wagon was in front of his home that night. (V37/T3682-3687)

When the station wagon was examined, no prints matched Carlie's, 2 head hairs consistent with Carlie's were found inside the station wagon from the rear of the wagon and on the floor mat, and 7 fibers from the vehicle were consistent with Carlie's shirt. No pubic hairs consistent with Carlie were found in the vehicle, and no unknown hairs were found in the combings from Carlie's

pubic region. (V41/T4135-4209; V44/T4680-4692)

After Mr. Smith talked to the detectives on 2-3-04, he was arrested and put in the Sarasota County Jail later that day on unrelated charges. (V37/T3608) On 2-5-04, arrangements were made so Mr. Smith could talk to his mother and brother alone and without taping. (V37/T3699-3702)

John Smith, Mr. Smith's brother, called the Sarasota County Sheriff's Office on 2-4-04 at night and said he wanted to visit with Mr. Smith that night. Because Mr. Smith had counsel, John was told a visit could not take place that night; and John was referred to the Public Defender's Office. (V37/T3698,3699) John also spoke to two FBI agents at the Sarasota County Sheriff's Office at 7:30 p.m.. During that conversation, one of the agents asked if John had thought about going to see his brother in order to rest his mind-going to see his brother and asking if Joseph had done it. (V38/T3737,3755,3756) Later that evening John called the FBI agent and said he wanted to see his brother. This was not allowed, and the agent told John to call his brother's attorney. John, who had 3 felony convictions and had pending charges with this State Attorney's Office, admitted he was upset with his brother Joseph back in Feb. 2004. His brother had stolen things from him resulting in many fights. John had not spoken to his brother for some time; so when his brother showed up at his house at 11 p.m. on 2-2-04, he told his brother he did not want to speak to him. After John saw the tape on 2-3-04, he went to see his brother. John did not get to talk to his brother til 2-5-04. (V38/T3738, 3739, 3791-3798, 3840, 3841, 3860; V39/T3878, 3879)

According to John, he asked his brother about the girl; and his brother cried, mumbled a lot, and said he was sorry. His brother said he couldn't remember a lot because of the cocaine he'd taken that had affected him like no other cocaine had. His brother was foggy about what had happened and said it was a blur. His brother would not talk about the girl til their mother left. According to John, his brother gave him yes or no responses to questions John asked. John said his brother said they had oral sex, rough sex, and sex where he ejaculated inside her. His brother did not know if she was dead, but she could be. John asked about the girl's location, and his brother said something about a church on Proctor Road and a concrete building. (V38/T3798-3815.3857-3859)

During a phone call between John Smith and a detective the afternoon of 2-5-04 and later that same night, John asked the detective about a reward. John appeared to be concerned that someone else might be getting that reward. In a subsequent conversation, the detective was concerned when John continued to ask about the reward. (V38/T3758,3770-3773) John said he was interested in the reward for his brother's children. John claimed his brother wanted him (John) to get the reward for Joseph's children; however, in a taped statement between John and the FBI agents on 2-5-04, John is discussing the reward, those trying to claim it, and the amount. John never mentions his brother wanting John to get it for his brother's children. John did not get any reward money in this case. (V38/T3851,3852,3864;V45/T4870,4871)

After John left the jail, he drove by some churches on

Proctor Road, stopped at one, got out of his vehicle, looked around, and left when he didn't find anything. (V38/T3816-3818) Two men working for a tree service who parked their equipment at the Central Church of Christ on Proctor Road saw a white man coming out of the tree area on the property and get into an SUV that was parked behind the church. The guy ran to his vehicle and drove away as soon as he saw the two men. This was on 2-5-04 in the afternoon. (V45/T4912-4929) John received calls from his brother on 2-5-04. According to John, his brother called him during the day; and they discussed the girl's location. (V38/T3820) However, the Sarasota County Sheriff's Office logged Mr. Smith's calls made from his cell as to date, time and the number to which the call was placed; and the only calls they have listed to John's number on 2-5-04 were from 7:44 p.m. to 10:29 p.m.. Sarasota's County Jail could not record these calls, but one deputy assigned to Mr. Smith's cell overheard part of conversation to John as to where "she" was-'she's between 2 trees and not too far back maybe along the tree line.' "John, tell mom I'm sorry. I was not thinking right. Please tell mom I'm sorry."' The deputy never heard anything about sex acts or anything of a sexual nature. (V39/T3913,3987-3399,3924-3949)

John called one of the FBI agents at 8:55 p.m. on 2-5-04 and asked the agent to come to his (John's) home. Two FBI agents and a Sarasota County detective went to John's home; and then the officers, John, and John's mother got into an SUV. John directed them to Central Church of Christ on Proctor Road at 10:15 p.m. John received calls from his brother while at the church.

(V38/T3741-3749,3824-3827;V39/T3881-3885) Because it was believed Carlie Brucia's body was nearby, everyone remained on the parking lot. (V39/T3890) A deputy from the forensics department with the Sarasota County Sheriff's Office was sent in to the wooded area early in the morning on 2-6-04, and she did find Carlie Brucia's body with her flashlight. (There was a stipulation as to the identity of the body.) (V39/T3958-3969:V42/T4354)

The medical examiner went to the scene and observed Carlie's body. There was no rigor mortis. It was apparent she had been dragged to that location. Carlie was wearing a red shirt, bra, and one sock. Because the left leg was in the unusual position of being under the left buttock, the medical examiner believed the body was dragged there before rigor mortis set in. Rigor mortis develops a few hours after death and builds to a peak at about 12 hours. It is gone within 24 hours. (V42/T4354-4357,4361-4366) The medical examiner could not pinpoint the time of death (V42/T4357); but a forensic entomology consultant, i.e., insects, put the time of death within a reasonable degree of scientific certainty before sunrise on 2-2-04. This opinion was based upon the growth or development of the insect population on the body. (V43/T4468-4486)

The medical examiner determined cause of death to be strangulation. There were no other obvious signs of injuries, and there was a ligature-type mark around the neck. (V42/T4359) Unconsciousness occurs in 8-10 seconds, and it takes 2-4 minutes for the person to die. The manner of death was homicide.

The medical examiner had no physical evidence of a sexual battery from the body. Swabs taken from the body, including the

mouth and vagina, did not reveal any semen/sperm. Decomposition and insect activity obscured the genital area. Damage to the hymen could have been caused by insects, and the tear to the vagina was probably caused by his speculum. No other injuries to the vagina were found. There were dragging abrasions on the body that could have occurred right before or after death. There was some bruising on the right leg, but this was not necessarily connected to the assault—it could have occurred several hours before death. Some of the damage to the body was caused by animal activity. Both wrists had linear marks similar, but more subtle, to the one on the neck. Marks were consistent with her hands being bound. Since the body had been dragged more than just a few feet, that could be why the shirt was up, bra unclasped, and lower clothing was missing. There were no injuries to the head or torso. (V43/T4422-4452)

Mr. Smith had some injuries to his hands and legs, but the medical examiner could not say how they occurred. He could not link the injuries to Carlie, and they were consistent with Mr. Smith's work as a mechanic. (V42/T4411-4414;V43/T4455-4458)

Carlie's red shirt was sent to the FBI lab in Quantico, Virgina; and the case manager—who doesn't perform any of the testing—testified to the results. This case manager admitted that in 2002 there was a biologist in this FBI lab who was running tests correctly, but was not running the controls used to check for contamination. This biologist then falsified her reports saying she had done the controls. This biologist had been with the FBI for 14 years, and her improper DNA testing lasted for over 2 years in over 100 cases. This biologist only got caught when

another biologist walked by and saw something wrong. The supervisors for this biologist never realized she was falsifying her reports, and they always gave her satisfactory performance reviews. As a result of this discovery, all of this biologist's work had to be redone; and the Office of the Inspector General was called in to investigate the lab's areas of vulnerability. Their report on the DNA unit was not issued until May 2004, while the evidence in this case was received in Feb. 2004.

One semen stain was found on Carlie's shirt, and the male DNA matched Mr. Smith's to a reasonable degree of scientific certainty. This was the only DNA found. Carlie's fingernail clippings did not reveal any foreign DNA, nor did swabbings from her mouth, vagina, or anus. The case manager admitted the majority of their tests are conducted for the prosecution. The case manager also admitted there is a risk of error in every human activity including in the handling and analyzing of DNA. Inadvertent contamination could occur, and some testing is very sensitive. A forensic DNA examiner is trying to examine less than .1% of human DNA that is different from other human DNA. In addition, there can be analyst bias. The case manager does no testing and does not observe the testing. The work continues whether the supervisor is there or not. (V43/T4498-4615)

Mr. Smith was moved to the Manatee County Jail in Feb. 2004 so that all of his calls and visits could be, and were, recorded. (V44/T4706-4730) Portions of some of these recordings were played to the jury:

1. Telephone Call on 2-9-04 between John Smith and his brother, Joseph. Joseph says he did not know the mother

- and did not sell her drugs in a bar. He does not sell drugs, and he does not know the people where the kid was sleeping over. John says he's going to ask questions, but he'll use code words. Joseph tells him to bring paper and a pen. (V44/T4741,4742)
- 2. Telephone Call on 2-9-04 between Patricia Davis and her son, Joseph. Patricia says the best thing Joseph can do is explain it as an accident, and Joseph says it was an accident. He did not do it on purpose. Patricia wants him to talk to a priest, and she knew drugs were going to get him in trouble. Joseph says he didn't mean to do and asks if his wife knows he's not an animal. Patricia tells him that his wife Lucy called to tell her that Joseph never hurt her. Joseph asks his mom to tell Lucy he's sorry. (V44/T4742-4746)
- 3. Telephone Call on 2-10-04 between John and Joseph. John asks Joseph why Joseph came to his (John's) house on Monday night—did Joseph see himself on TV. Joseph says no, he needed to talk 'about that.' John asks if Joseph knew the family, and Joseph said no. John said it makes a difference and it's a shame Joseph did not know them. Joseph asks why, and John just repeats it makes a difference. Joseph says he never met her. John says Joseph had to have met the girl before, but Joseph says no. John says the girl didn't look 11 years old—16 or 17, and Joseph agrees. (V44/T4747-4748)
- 4. Jail Visit on 2-12-04 between Sharon Johnson and Joseph. Joseph says he's embarrassed and a 'piece of shit.' He blames the drugs—heroin and cocaine. (V44/T4749)
- 5. Telephone Call on 2-18-04 between John and Joseph. Joseph says he's going to make the best of the worst situation, and he admits he screwed up. Joseph wants Alexis to know he did not do this to hurt her, and he wants John to tell Alexis that he (Joseph) loves her. (V44/T4749-4751)
- 6. Jail Visit on 2-19-04 between John and Joseph. John is asking a lot of questions, but the answers are inaudible. Joseph says he finished it because he was scared—the adrenaline. Joseph initially wants to know who called the tip on him, but then says it doesn't matter. Eventually, he was going to get caught. Joseph saw her running, and then he parked the car. John tells Joseph something about Joseph selling "it" so the kids could go to college. Joseph says that was a bad idea. It would have done something to John to see that, "they" would have followed him, and John would have been implicated. John says once he saw "that" he would have had to go straight to "them." Joseph told John he would have been putting himself in jeopardy, and it was a bad idea. John says it didn't

happen, but Joseph is going to be away for a long time. John wants to make sure the kids go to college. John then says something, about Joseph knowing the mother because they used to go to a bar. Joseph says he never met her and never went to a bar. Joseph says he saw the priest and confessed to everything—"murder, all types of stuff." The priest gave him penance and told him not to worry about the people he hurt—he now has a clean slate. Joseph said he had to do the right thing from now on; it made him feel a little bit better. (V44/T4751-4756)

- 7. Telephone Call on 2-29-04 between John and Joseph. John talks about encryptions and taking a lot of time to decipher what he's going to send to Joseph. Joseph says he has nothing but time. John says the trial is to be long and drawn out, and he will be testifying as to what he knows. When Joseph says John knows nothing, John says he knows stuff. (V44/T4756-4759)
- 8. Telephone Call on 2-29-04 between Patricia Davis and Joseph. Patricia says somebody knows that Joseph knew the mother, and Joseph said he never knew these people before in his life. (V44/T4759)
- 9. Telephone Call on 3-7-04 between John and Joseph. Joseph tells John he never knew this girl before in his life, and John says he wishes it wasn't that way. Joseph repeats he never knew her. (V44/T4760)
- 10. Jail Visit on 3-11-04 with Patricia, John, and Joseph. Joseph is asked what he was on that night, and he says he thought it was cocaine. However, he did not react to this cocaine as he usually did—it was totally different. Joseph says there are so many rumors that he knew these people, but he never knew them. (V44/T4760,4761)
- 11. Jail Visit on 3-14-04 between John and Joseph. Joseph tells John that John has nothing to feel bad about. He did it, he screwed up, he used the drugs. (V44/T4761,4762)

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