IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JOSEPH SMITH,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. SC06-0747

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.___/

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE TWELFTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR SARASOTA COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

BILL McCOLLUM ATTORNEY GENERAL

CAROL M. DITTMAR Senior Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar I.D. No. 0503843 Concourse Center #4 3507 Frontage Road, Suite 200 Tampa, Florida 33607 Phone: (813) 287-7910 Fax: (813) 281-5501

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

Many courts have upheld the admission of testimony in similar circumstances against <u>Crawford</u> challenges. In <u>United States v.</u> Moon, 512 F.3d 359, 361-62 (7th Cir. 2008), the Court found that

the admission of testimony by a Drug Enforcement Agency chemist did not amount to plain error under <u>Crawford</u>. The chemist in <u>Moon</u> testified in his expert opinion that the substance at issue was cocaine, relying on laboratory work and a report generated by a prior chemist that no longer worked for DEA. Noting that the chemist testified as an expert rather than a fact witness, and that the federal code permits an expert to rely on facts or data which may not be independently admissible, the Court held that even if the confrontation clause precluded admission of the first chemist's report, it did not taint the second chemist's testimony based on the report. "Thus we agree with *Washington [United States v*. *Washington*, 498 F.3d 225 (4th Cir. 2007)] that the Sixth Amendment does not demand that a chemist or other testifying expert have done the lab work himself." Moon, 512 F.3d at 362.

Similarly, the court in <u>People v. Ramirez</u>, 153 Cal. App. 4th 1422, 64 Cal. Rptr. 3d 96 (Cal. Ct. App. 2007), held that <u>Crawford</u> is not violated when an expert offers opinion testimony based on hearsay. That court noted that any hearsay encompassed within an expert's testimony is not offered for the truth of the matter asserted, but is considered to assess the weight of the expert's opinion.

As in <u>Ramirez</u>, the defense here has not identified a particular hearsay statement testified to by Luttman. He objected to her conclusion as hearsay, but it was Luttman's own conclusion,

and she was subject to cross examination on that conclusion. То the extent that Smith challenges the test "results" rather than Luttman's conclusion that the DNA on Carlie's shirt matched Smith, his claim is without merit as such results are not hearsay statements, and are not testimonial in nature as contemplated in Crawford. See New Hampshire v. O'Maley, 156 N.H. 125, 932 A.2d 1 (N.H. 2007) (blood test results were nonaccusatory because the test could have lead to either inculpatory or exculpatory results and laboratory supervisor was properly permitted to testify as to results even absent the testimony of the analyst who performed the test); North Carolina v. Heinricy, 645 S.E. 2d 147 (N.C. App. 2007)(chemists' affidavit regarding defendant's blood alcohol level nontestimonial and, even if error, error was harmless); United States v. Washington, 498 F.3d 225, 227 (4th Cir. 2007)(Crawford objection properly denied as to lab director's testimony, and data which director relied testimonial upon were not hearsay statements).

This Court has repeatedly explained that discretion is abused only when the judicial action is arbitrary, fanciful, or unreasonable, which is another way of saying that discretion is abused only where no reasonable person would take the view adopted by the trial court. <u>Green v. State</u>, 907 So. 2d 489, 496 (Fla. 2005); <u>White v. State</u>, 817 So. 2d 799, 806 (Fla. 2002); <u>Trease v.</u> <u>State</u>, 768 So. 2d 1050, 1053 n.2 (Fla. 2000). Smith cannot satisfy

this standard in this issue, and no abuse of discretion can be found in the trial court's overruling the Crawford objection below.

Furthermore, any impropriety in the admission of Luttman's testimony was clearly harmless. To the extent that Luttman should not have testified specifically to the lab results upon which her ultimate conclusion was based, it was not those lab results, but her conclusion, which implicated Smith. Moreover, there was other significant evidence that Carlie had been sexually battered prior to her death: Smith admitted it to his brother, and the medical examiner concluded it from the totality of the circumstances presented. Although Smith challenges this other evidence on appeal, no error has been demonstrated (see Issues II and III, *infra*). Therefore, there is no reasonable possibility that any <u>Crawford</u> error could have affected Smith's conviction for sexual battery. <u>State v. DiGuilio</u>, 429 So. 2d 1129, 1138 (Fla. 1986).

ISSUE II

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ADMITTING OPINION TESTIMONY FROM THE MEDICAL EXAMINER, DR. VEGA.

Smith next asserts that the trial court improperly allowed testimony from Dr. Russell Vega, Twelfth Circuit Medical Examiner, that, in Vega's opinion, Carlie had been sexually battered prior to her death (42/4407-10). This issue presents an evidentiary ruling, reviewed on appeal for an abuse of discretion. <u>Brooks v. State</u>, 918 So. 2d 181 (Fla. 2005); <u>Globe v. State</u>, 877 So. 2d 663, 672 (Fla. 2004). As no abuse of discretion has been shown, no error can be discerned on this issue.

The record reflects that at trial, defense counsel sought to exclude Dr. Vega's opinion as being unreliable, speculative, and without sufficient foundation (42/4325-26). On appeal, Smith repeats these claims, but his primary arguments--that the testimony was beyond the competence of the medical examiner and invaded the province of the jury--were never presented below and are procedurally barred. <u>Steinhorst v. State</u>, 412 So. 2d 332, 338 (Fla. 1982)(to be cognizable on appeal, argument must be same specific contention made below).

As to the preserved claim that Dr. Vega's opinion was speculative and unreliable, Smith merely offers that conclusory complaint, without any factual or legal analysis. A review of the record demonstrates that Vega's opinion was based on facts well

established in the record and was properly admitted.

Dr. Vega testified that, in rendering an opinion about an injury, he considers the totality of circumstances (42/4406-07). In this case, he was asked to consider whether a sexual battery had occurred, and in making that decision, the factors he looks at are: physical findings on the body; injuries that might be associated with a sexual battery; subsequent testing that demonstrates the presence of semen or sperm; and the overall nature of the circumstances, including the scenario of finding the body and the circumstances surrounding the individual's disappearance and death (42/4407). He specifically observed that Carlie had been found nude from the waist down, finding this "highly suggestive" of sexual activity, and that her death occurred by ligature strangulation, which is "highly associated" with sexual assaults in numerous cases (42/4408).

Smith has repeatedly asserted that there were no physical findings from Carlie's body to be considered. However, Dr. Vega noted: Carlie had been strangled with a ligature, and her hands had been bound with ligatures (42/4359,4399-4400); she had bruises on her legs that were sustained about the same time of her abduction and death, including a contusion on her inner thigh (42/4363,4395-97); she was nude from the waist down, and her shirt was pulled up and bra unfastened, (42/4362,4373-74); her hymen was torn (42/4404-05); and the decomposition and insect activity

obscured her genital area and impeded his ability to get reliable swabbings (42/4369,4372). All of these findings were properly considered and supported Dr. Vega's opinion that a sexual assault had occurred. In addition, of course, Dr. Vega was aware that later testing had confirmed the presence of semen on Carlie's shirt, and that Smith had made statements to his brother admitting a sexual attack.

The fact that Smith can theorize about other possible explanations for some of the findings Dr. Vega noted in supporting his conclusion that Carlie was sexually battered is not a persuasive argument for exclusion of this testimony. Vega's acknowledgments (that it was possible that Carlie's shirt was pulled up and bra unclasped due to her body being dragged to the scene,¹ that it was possible the tearing of her hymen could be attributed to insect activity, and that the recent bruises on Carlie's inner thigh and shin were "not necessarily" related to her attack) merely go to the weight to be given Vega's opinion, and provide no basis for exclusion. <u>Troedel v. State</u>, 462 So. 2d 392, 396 (Fla. 1984)(perceived weaknesses in expert testimony can be

¹ Although Dr. Vega testified that the dragging of Carlie's body could possibly account for the way her shirt and bra had been disarrayed, he noted it was much less likely that the dragging could explain Carlie being nude from the waist down (43/4428-29); the uniformity of the drag marks suggested the same amount of exposure to the lower areas of her body, and while Vega could not definitively rule out that her clothes may have hung up on something with the marks consistent after that point, her jeans, underwear, and one missing sock were never found.

brought out on cross examination, and pertain to the weight and credibility of testimony rather than its admissibility).

Smith is highly critical of Vega's testimony that "In numerous case reports and studies, ligature strangulations are most common in women and are highly associated with sexual assaults and sexual battery" (42/4408). Since, as Smith admits, this testimony would not be within the common knowledge of the jury (Appellant's Initial Brief, p. 32), he must find another way to dispute the statement and therefore repeatedly claims that, because Vega did not voluntarily identify the "numerous case reports and studies" by referencing specific medical treatises or journals, this comment must be based solely on personal experience (Appellant's Initial Brief, pp. 32-33,36-37). However, defense counsel below made no attempt to voir dire or cross examine Dr. Vega with regard to these reports and studies; it is inappropriate and unfair to castigate a witness on appeal for failing to volunteer information which was never requested at trial. Smith's complaint that this statement was beyond the competence of the medical examiner and his presumption that it was based solely on personal knowledge are not supported by the record below, since counsel failed to explore the foundation for the statement with Dr. Vega.

Moreover, there is no legal basis to exclude testimony as to a correlation between ligature strangulation and sexual battery even if Dr. Vega's knowledge of the correlation was based solely on his

own experience and observations as a medical examiner. Smith cites <u>Jones v. State</u>, 748 So. 2d 1012 (Fla. 1999), to suggest error, but in <u>Jones</u> this Court agreed that the psychiatrist in that case could not testify as to the effects of crack cocaine, where the testimony was based solely on the doctor's personal experience as an addict, not as an expert. Unless Smith is suggesting that Vega is a strangler and rapist, and basing his knowledge on that experience, <u>Jones</u> is inapposite and Smith's reliance on that decision is misplaced.

To the extent that Smith adopts the objection below as to the use of a hypothetical in securing Vega's opinion, his claim is without merit. The evidence code does not prohibit the use of hypothetical questions; rather, such questions are common, particularly when directed at medical examiners and other expert witnesses. State v. Hickson, 630 So. 2d 172, 173 (Fla. 1993) (discussing proper scope of expert testimony); Chavez v. State, 832 So. 2d 730, 744, n.20 (Fla. 2002)(noting use of hypothetical question to expert); Jennings v. State, 583 So. 2d 316, 321 (Fla. 1991)(same). The judge below correctly noted that the facts relied upon in the hypothetical had been admitted into evidence, and Smith does not identify any fact noted which was not proven; he merely disputes the inferences properly drawn by the evidence.

Notably, Smith's unpreserved claims that Vega's opinion was beyond his competence as a medical examiner and invaded the

province of the jury are inherently contradictory; he fails to explain how the jury would have common knowledge and understanding of any opinion which the medical examiner lacked the necessary qualifications and expertise to offer. In addition to being procedurally barred, these claims are independently without merit.

The unpreserved claim that this testimony invaded the province of the jury as in <u>Angrand v. Key</u>, 657 So. 2d 1146 (Fla. 1995), and <u>Florida Power Corp. v. Baron</u>, 481 So. 2d 1309 (Fla. 2d DCA 1986), must be rejected. The admissibility of expert opinion testimony is governed by Section 90.702, Florida Statutes, which provides:

If scientific, technical, or other specialized knowledge will assist the trier of fact in understanding the evidence or in determining a fact in issue, a witness qualified as an expert by knowledge, skill, experience, training, or education may testify about it in the form of an opinion; however, the opinion is admissible only if it can be applied to evidence at trial.

Moreover, such testimony is "not objectionable because it includes an ultimate issue to be decided by the trier of fact," <u>see</u> Section 90.703, Florida Statutes, a point which defense counsel expressly acknowledged below (42/4326).

In <u>Dailey v. State</u>, 594 So. 2d 254, 258 (Fla. 1991), this Court approved similar testimony. In <u>Dailey</u>, an investigating detective was qualified as an expert and permitted to offer his opinion that it was highly likely that a sexual battery or attempt had occurred based on the fact that the victim was found nude and her clothing was found scattered at the scene. In rejecting the claim that the testimony was only common sense and within the common knowledge of the jury, this Court noted that the detective had extensive training and experience in homicides and sexual batteries, and concluded that his testimony was helpful in consolidating the various pieces of evidence found at the scene. <u>See also Bloodworth v. State</u>, 504 So. 2d 495, 498 (Fla. 1st DCA 1987)(no error in allowing physician to opine that victim had recently engaged in nonconsensual intercourse).

In <u>Schneer v. Allstate Indem. Co.</u>, 767 So. 2d 485, 489 (Fla. 3rd DCA 2000), the court noted that testimony invades the province of the jury when it has the effect of advising the jury how to decide the case, rather than assisting the jury in determining what had occurred. <u>See also Martinez v. State</u>, 761 So. 2d 1074, 1080 (Fla. 2000)(holding detective's testimony that he had "no doubt" that Martinez committed the murders was improperly admitted). Dr. Vega's testimony was clearly offered to assist the jury in determining whether a sexual assault had occurred, rather than advising them to convict Smith of sexual battery. Thus, Smith's current argument that Vega's testimony invaded the province of the jury is procedurally barred and without merit.

Smith's unpreserved claim that this testimony was beyond the competence of the medical examiner is similarly meritless. Such a claim relies on a finding that Dr. Vega did not have the requisite expertise to conclude that Carlie had been sexually battered. See
<u>Behn v. State</u>, 621 So. 2d 534 (Fla. 1st DCA 1993); <u>Wright v. State</u>, 348 So. 2d 26 (Fla. 1st DCA 1977), <u>cert. denied</u>, 353 So. 2d 679 (Fla. 1977). In addition to being procedurally barred, this claim is refuted by the record. Vega testified that he had been Chief Medical Examiner for the Twelfth District for over two years, and had previously served as an associate medical examiner in the Thirteenth District (Hillsborough County) for four and a half years, as well as being staff pathologist and chief of autopsy services at the VA Hospital in Tampa for two years (42/4345-47). He had previously testified as an expert and had performed approximately 2000 autopsies (42/4347). Smith does not identify any particular deficiency in Vega's qualifications to preclude the opinion offered.

In addition, it was not necessary for Dr. Vega to have been convinced "to a reasonable degree of medical certainty" in order to offer his opinion. <u>Delap v. State</u>, 440 So. 2d 1242, 1253-1254 (Fla. 1983)("To be admissible, a medical expert's opinion as to the cause of an injury or death does not have to be expressed in terms of a reasonable medical certainty. Such evidence is admissible, but the weight to be given it is a matter to be determined by the jury"). Although Smith offers a number of complaints relating to the admission of Vega's opinion that a sexual battery occurred, it is clear that Vega had specialized training as a medical examiner to assist the jury in determining a fact at issue as to whether the

victim had been sexually battered, and therefore his opinion testimony was properly admitted below.

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